
 

 

 

Dare County Tourism Board Meeting 

 

MAY 16, 2024 at 10:00 a.m. 

 
GRAVEYARD OF THE ATLANTIC MUSEUM 

59200 MUSEUM DRIVE 

HATTERAS, NC 27943 

 



 

 

DARE COUNTY TOURISM BOARD MEETING 

THURSDAY, MAY 16, 2024 

10:00 A.M. 

GRAVEYARD OF THE ATLANTIC MUSEUM 

59200 MUSEUM DRIVE 

HATTERAS, NC 27943 

 

 

AGENDA 
 

 

I. Call to Order    

 
II. Pledge of Allegiance & Moment of Silence  

 
III. Approval of Agenda 

     

IV. Approval of Minutes from the April 18, 2024 Meeting 

 

V. Public Comments   
 

VI.  10:15 A.M. Public Hearing for Proposed Budget for Fiscal Year 2024-2025 

 

VII. Chair/Steering Committee Report   

1. Three Year Goals Review 

2.  Outer Banks Sailing Association Recommendation  
  

VIII.     Budget & Finance Report 

1. Monthly Reports 

2. Proposed Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Budget 

       

IX.       Outer Banks Visitors Bureau Updates    

 

X. Old Business 

 

XI. New Business 

  

XII. Board Member Comments 

   

XIII. Set Date, Time, and Place of Next Meeting   

 

XIV. Adjournment 

 

 

 

 

Graveyard of the Atlantic Museum Ribbon Cutting at 1 p.m. 



 

April 18,  2024 Dare County Tourism Board  1 

RECORD OF MINUTES 

DARE COUNTY TOURISM BOARD 

THURSDAY, APRIL 18, 2024 

9:00 A.M. 

OUTER BANKS VISITORS BUREAU ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES 

MANTEO, NC 27954 

 

 

ATTENDING:  Monica Thibodeau, Chair; Tod Clissold, Treasurer; Dennis Robinson, Assistant Treasurer; 

Tonia Cohen, Secretary; Mark Ballog, Terry Gray, John Head, Richard Hess, Wally Overman, and Jay 

Wheless, Legal Counsel.  

 

EXCUSED ABSENCE: David Hines, Vice Chair; Mark Batenic, Tess Judge, and Mike Siers. 

 

STAFF: 

Lee Nettles, Executive Director  
Diane Bognich, Director of Administration  

Amy Wood, Clerk to the Board/Administrative Specialist  

Lorrie Love, Tourism Sales and Events Manager  

Jeff Schwartzenburg, Community Engagement Manager 

Aaron Tuell, Public Relations Manager 

 

OTHERS ATTENDING: Dave Hallac, Superintendent; and Mike Barber, Public Affairs Officer, National 

Parks of Eastern North Carolina; John DeLucia, Albemarle & Associates; James Eaton, Outer Banks Sailing 

Association; and Katie Morgan. 

 

The meeting was called to order at 9:01 a.m.  The Board then recited the pledge of allegiance, followed by a 

moment of silence.  

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA: Mr. Gray moved to approve the agenda. Second by Mr. Head. There was no 

discussion. The motion passed unanimously (9-0). 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Mr. Head moved to approve the meeting minutes from March 21, 2024 

meeting.   Second by Mr. Batenic. There was no discussion.  The motion passed unanimously (9-0). 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS:  There were no public comments made. No written comments were received.  

 

PRESENTATIONS: Superintendent Hallac presented a Year in Review for the National Parks (on file).  

 

Mr. Overman moved to add a closed session pursuant to NCGS 143.318.11 (a)(3) to preserve the attorney 

client privilege in the administrative proceeding before the North Carolina Coastal Resources Commission, 

specifically regarding permitting and variances concerning the boardwalk at the Soundside Event Site in Nags 

Head.  Second by Mr. Head. There was no discussion. The motion passed unanimously (9-0). 

 

Mr. Hess moved to enter the closed session closed session pursuant to NCGS 143.318.11 (a)(3) to preserve 

the attorney client privilege. Second by Mr. Gray. There was no discussion. The motion passed unanimously 

(9-0). 

 

The meeting entered into closed session at 9:39 a.m. 

 
The meeting resumed open session at 10:18 a.m.  Legal Counsel noted there was no action taken to report 

from the Closed Session.  

 



 

April 18,  2024 Dare County Tourism Board  2 

STEERING COMMITTEE:  James Eaton spoke to the Board about the Outer Banks Sailing Association, 

their membership, work with the high school sailing teams, events, and their request to build and maintain 

boat storage racks on the event site. The Board, Staff, and Legal Counsel discussed the proposal. Following 

discussion, the Board asked Staff to gather more information and bring the matter back to the Board.  

 

BUDGET AND FINANCE REPORT: Mr. Clissold reviewed the meals and occupancy receipts received.  

Receipts for fiscal year 2023-2024 were up .41 % compared to 2022-2023 actual receipts.   

 

Diane Bognich reviewed the proposed budget for Fiscal Year 2024-2025. The proposed budget is based on a 

4% increase in revenues over the Fiscal Year 2023-24 budget. Highlights include a 4% increase in marketing 

and promotions, $225,000 for initiatives in the Long Range Tourism Management Plan, and additional 

funding to the Fireworks Grant line item.  

 

Following the review of the proposed budget, Mr. Overman moved to set a Public Hearing for the proposed 

Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Budget on May 16th with the time and location to be determined. Second by Mr. Hess. 

There was no discussion. The motion passed unanimously (9-0).   
 

OUTER BANKS VISITORS BUREAU UPDATES: 

 

Lee Nettles gave a brief overview of the marketing efforts and results.  

 

Lorrie Love noted that there were 30 restaurants [as of the meeting date] participating in Soft Shell Crab 

week, and her upcoming Tourism Sales familiarization tour.  

 

Aaron Tuell reviewed recent and upcoming appearances on the Hampton Roads show, and other public 

relations efforts. 

 

Jeff Schwartzenberg reviewed the recent Long Range Tourism Management Plan Special Committee meeting. 

The Special Committee reached consensus to present the final draft of the Outer Banks Promise [attached] to 

the Board.  Following the Board’s review, Mr. Robinson moved to adopt the Outer Banks Promise. Second by 

Mr. Hess. There was no discussion. The motion passed unanimously (9-0).   

 

Mr. Overman left at 11:25 a.m. 

 

OLD BUSINESS:  There was no old business before the Board. 

 

NEW BUSINESS:  There was no new business before the Board. 

 

BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS: There were no Board Member Comments made. 

 

SET DATE, TIME, AND PLACE OF NEXT MEETING:  The next meeting is scheduled for Thursday, 

May 16, 2024 at 10:00 a.m. at the Graveyard of the Atlantic Museum, Hatteras NC.  

 

The Chair asked if there was any further business before the Board. Hearing none, the Chair adjourned the 

meeting at 11:27 a.m. 

 

ATTESTED: 

 

 

 
_________________________________________________ 
Clerk, Dare County Tourism Board 



Dare County Tourism Board 
Three-Year Strategic Goals 

Spring 2024 
 
 
 

1. Market the destination in effective and innovative ways 
a. Continue to connect the visitor to the OBX in ways not easily found elsewhere 
b. Update website based on results of 2024 Website Audit and Usability Study 
c. Pursue itinerary builder/mapping functionality for online visitor planning 
d. Evaluate lodging booking engines for use on outerbanks.org 
e. Develop online mini guides to address specific interests and needs (Accessibility, for 

instance) 
f. Finetune geographic, interest-based and retargeting programs for advertising and email  
g. Continue booking pace and spend tracking research 
h. Determine a system for providing more accurate visitor counts 
i. Incorporate brand messaging, ad effectiveness research 
j. Connect local travel partners with OBVB research 
k. Develop Bureau policy standards related to AI 
l. Consider AI assistants and look for ways to integrate AI into Bureau operations 
m. Expand and enhance owned media efforts (design standards, Outer Banks episodic 

program) 
n. Expand voluntourism program with visitors and local non-profit organizations (NPOs) 

 
 
 

2. Enhance communication, interaction with Stakeholder Groups and Community 
a. Continue production and distribution of DCTB meeting recaps 
b. Continue production and distribution of Long-Range Tourism Management Plan (LRTMP) 

Special Committee meeting recaps 
c. Further develop LRTMP microsite 
d. Continue LRTMP and stewardship community presentations 
e. Continue partner webinars 
f. Continue OBX Tourism Summit 
g. Cultivate key stakeholder relationships, such as, NPS, Chamber, Dare Emer Mgmt, Dare 

Schools, Community Foundation and NPOs (voluntourism, Mission Mixers, Knowledge 
Series), and through the Long-Range Tourism Management Plan (LRTMP) Special 
Committee’s activities (community groups, residents, non-resident property owners) 

 
 
 
Bold = New Initiative; Highlighted = Major Initiative; Bold & Highlighted = New & Major 
  



Dare County Tourism Board 
Three-Year Strategic Goals 

Spring 2024 
 
 
 
 

3. Grow and enhance non-peak season event development 
a. Maintain expanded Event Grant efforts 
b. Continue to look for opportunities to partner and develop new events (Soft-Shell Week, 

Soundside Market, 12 Bars of Christmas) 
c. Consider an education and incentive program to lessen the environmental impacts of 

events held at The Soundside event site and via DCTB grants 
d. Complete CAMA permitting, final design and construction of a boardwalk along the 

sound side 
e. Pursue an amended Conditional Use Permit for The Soundside combined property 
f. Inform and work with key stakeholder groups, such as, local travel sports teams, to 

build grassroots support for a Sports & Events Complex 
g. Promote inclusion of the Sports & Events Complex within Dare County’s Capital 

Improvement Plan (CIP) 
h. Develop a master plan for The Soundside expanded property and work to complete 

early phases 
 
 
 

4. Pursue sustainable tourism growth by building community 
a. Continue expanded Tourism Impact Grant (TIG) funding 
b. Cultivate better stewardship of the destination via voluntourism and promotion 
c. Explore development of a micro-donation program in collaboration with the 

Community Foundation 
d. Consider development of an OBVB-led annual community project, bringing residents 

and visitors together 
e. Work with the Tourism Board’s appointed Special Committee to implement agreed upon 

strategies found within the Long-Range Tourism Management Plan 
(outerbanks.org/LRTMP) 

1. Strengthen resident and visitor engagement 
2. Adopt an integrated approach to improving environmental stewardship 
3. Support infrastructure development that benefits the vitality of the community 

for residents and visitors 
4. Collaborate to advocate for an increase in residential housing diversity 

 
 
 
Bold = New Initiative; Highlighted = Major Initiative; Bold & Highlighted = New & Major 
 

https://www.outerbanks.org/partners/long-range-tourism-management-plan/goals-strategies-progress/lrtmp-strategic-goal-1/
https://www.outerbanks.org/partners/long-range-tourism-management-plan/goals-strategies-progress/lrtmp-strategic-goal-2/
https://www.outerbanks.org/partners/long-range-tourism-management-plan/goals-strategies-progress/lrtmp-strategic-goal-3/
https://www.outerbanks.org/partners/long-range-tourism-management-plan/goals-strategies-progress/lrtmp-strategic-goal-3/
https://www.outerbanks.org/partners/long-range-tourism-management-plan/goals-strategies-progress/lrtmp-strategic-goal-4/














































OUTER BANKS VISITORS BUREAU
One Visitors Center Circle, Manteo, NC 27954
[P] 252-473-2138 [F] 252-473-5777
[Toll-Free] 877.OBX.4FUN    www.outerbanks.org

Duck   Southern Shores  Kitty Hawk  Kill Devil Hills  Nags Head  Roanoke Island  Hatteras Island  Dare Mainland

Date:   May 8, 2024

To:     Dare County Tourism Board

From: Tod Clissold, Treasurer
Lee Nettles, Executive Director
Diane Bognich, Director of Administration

Re: Draft #2 Proposed Budget for 2024-2025

Attached is a slightly revised draft of the proposed budget for fiscal year 2024-2025. The 
changes result from the receipt of March and April meals and occupancy revenues that are not 
actualized in the projected revenues. 

GENERAL FUND
 $20,000 was added to Event Development to bring it back to the same level as FY23-24.
 Approximately, $114,500 was added to Other Advertising for funding of the OBVB film 

program.

RESTRICTED FUND
 Increased revenues were allocated based the Board’s policy of distributing 70% to long-

term items and 30% to short-term items.

EVENT SITE FUND
 No significant changes made.

  









































































































 

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT REPORT – MAY 16, 2024 
 

Long-Range Tourism Management Plan 
 

Special Committee Meeting Update: May 8, 2024 

 

1) Outer Banks Promise:  

To coincide with National Travel & Tourism Week (May 19-25), residents and visitors will be 

introduced to the Outer Banks Promise through a variety of mechanisms, including local 

media, digital channels (web, email, video and social – #OBXPROMISE), Welcome Center 

activation and community engagement at events throughout the year (and beyond). 

 

This destination pledge is designed to communicate the important values of the Outer 

Banks with the goal of positively influencing and encouraging a commitment to responsible 

behaviors, including inspiring greater respect for our local culture, natural environment and 

safety. 

 

2) LRTMP Goal and Strategy Review: 

The committee continued their review of LRTMP Goal #2 (Adopt an integrated approach to 

improving environmental stewardship) and LRTMP Goal #3 (Support infrastructure 

development that benefits the vitality of the community for residents and visitors). Next step 

action items include: 

▪ Review resident feedback (from the process of creating the LRTMP) on 

environmental concerns to see how the committee can align with and prioritize 

addressing those challenges. 

▪ Continue collecting sustainability plans from other local organizations to also help 

with prioritization. 

▪ Identify environmental, infrastructure and accessibility experts and schedule future 

meetings/webinars designed to educate local stakeholders on various opportunities 

and concerns in those areas. 

▪ Continue identifying local committees and commissions whose work overlaps with 

the goals of the LRTMP and invite collaboration and support of those efforts. 

▪ Explore existing transportation options and research how other destinations are 

addressing this topic. 

 

With summer approaching and several key action items to work on over the next few 

months, the committee will be taking a brief meeting pause in June and July. The next 

meeting of the Special Committee is scheduled for Wednesday, August 14, 2024 at 

9:15am at the Outer Banks Visitors Bureau administrative offices on Roanoke Island. 

The meeting is open to the public, although seating in these meetings is limited. 
 

 

https://www.outerbanks.org/partners/long-range-tourism-management-plan/outer-banks-pledge/
https://www.outerbanks.org/partners/long-range-tourism-management-plan/goals-strategies-progress/lrtmp-strategic-goal-2/
https://www.outerbanks.org/partners/long-range-tourism-management-plan/goals-strategies-progress/lrtmp-strategic-goal-3/


Community Engagement & Outreach 

Meetings & Events 

5/10/24 – Dare County Housing Task Force Sub-Committee Meeting 

5/14/24 – Dare County Housing Task Force Meeting 

5/18/24 – Our State Outer Banks Voluntourism Event (The Elizabethan Gardens – 10:00am) 

5/21/24 – Destination Stewardship Peer Group Virtual Meeting 

               (Aspen, Durham, Jackson Hole, Lake Tahoe, Outer Banks, San Luis Obispo) 

5/22/24 – Coastal Environmental Educators Network (CEEN) Meeting 

5/28/24 – Dare County Housing Task Force Meeting 

6/1/24 – National Trails Day / Dare County Trails Committee Event (Manteo) 

6/6/24 – V.i.b.e. @ 5 – Outer Banks Chamber Event (Jolly Roger Restaurant, KDH) 

6/7/24 – OBX Community Services Collaborative (NPO) Meeting 

 

 

 

 









Outer Banks Visitors Bureau 

PUBLIC RELATIONS REPORT: May 2024 

TOP TRAVEL LISTS 

Forbes | Outer Banks Among The ‘12 Best Summer Vacation Destinations For Families In 
The U.S.’ 

For its “12 Best Summer Vacation Destinations For Families In The U.S.,” Forbes.com included 
the Outer Banks. Of the inclusion, the article said, in part,” Families with kids who need constant 
action and outdoor thrills should consider the Outer Banks... while teens can go snorkeling or 
scuba diving around the thousands of shipwrecks." https://bit.ly/3WBCNZ6 

Travel + Leisure | #1 Outer Banks Named Most Affordable Vacation Destination in the U.S. 

"We ranked Outer Banks as the least expensive destination (analyzing more than 100 well-known 
spots), where the allure of the Atlantic meets affordability," (OptimosTravel) shared in its findings 
via email. "With the lowest accommodation costs at $91.44, combined with meals at $60 and 
attractions adding up to $11.27, the daily cost per person stands at a mere $177. A week-long 
stay here ... for a family of four [comes out] at just $3,247.90, proving that paradise doesn't have 
to cost a fortune." https://bit.ly/3JQwVUd 

 Travel + Leisure | Outer Banks Among “15 Best Places to Travel in July” 

For its international list of the “15 Best Places to Travel in July,” Travel + Leisure included the 
Outer Banks. The segment noted, in part, “Beaches, state parks, lighthouses, museums, and 
historical sites provide plenty to see, and visitors can go fishing, kitesurfing, diving, boating, and 
hiking.” https://bit.ly/4bxbL9c 

 TV APPEARANCES 

Hampton Roads Show | Apr 25, 2024 Public Relations Manager Aaron Tuell returned to the 
Hampton Roads Show on WAVY 10 to promote travel to the Outer Banks, this time accompanied 
by Michael Tillett, organizer of the OBX Rod and Custom Festival and Mark Ballog, representing 
the Dare County Tourism Board. They discussed the Rod and Custom event May 3-4, the Outer 
Banks Soft-shell Crab Week, the Hatteras Village Offshore Open, the 50th Anniversary Worrell 
1000 catamaran race and the Kitty Hawk Kites Hang Gliding Spectacular competition. 

https://www.wavy.com/hr-show/spring-events-on-the-obx/ 



 

 

 
 

PRESS TRIPS 
 

Good Grit | May 2024 The OBVB PR team is developing the itinerary for Good Grit magazine 
contributors Rebecca Deurlein and Nicole Letts. Letts is a freelance journalist whose work has been 
published by BBC Travel, Fodor’s Travel, Good Grit, Southern Living, and many more. Rebecca 
Deurlein is a freelance writer whose work is featured in Travel & Leisure, Better Homes & Gardens, 
Atlas Obscura, Fodor's, The Huffington Post, Good Grit and many more. 
 
Washington, DC | May 2024 Aaron met freelance writer John Briley at the VisitNC led Washington, 
DC media mission in 2023. Briley came down in May and immersed in the kiteboarding culture of 
Hatteras Island during the May 7th week for future story ideas. He contributes to Washington Post, 
National Geographic Traveler, Men’s Journal, Dallas Morning News, AARP and more. 
 
Knoxville News | May 2024 Linda Lange writes travel stories on a regular basis as a freelance 
writer for the Knoxville (TN) News Sentinel and its website, knoxnews.com. Her stories are 
frequently shared throughout the extensive Gannett network. She will preview the new Graveyard 
of the Atlantic renovations, Chicamacomico Life-Saving Station and others. 
 
Our State | May 2024 The Outer Banks Visitors Bureau public relations team are helping 
contributor Katie Schanze return to complete her research for an upcoming installment in her 
Murphy to Manteo column that would include black bear tours and Alligator River NWR.  
 
Our State | May 2024 Editor-in-Chief Elizabeth Hudson will be in-market scouting editorial and 
photography opportunities for the magazine with some planning assistance from Aaron and the 
team.  

 
Southern Living | Aug 2024 Aaron and the team are assisting Tara McCay, Senior Travel and 
Culture Editor at Southern Living whose working on an Outer Banks feature for 2025. We are in 
the planning stages of developing an in-market itinerary for late summer.  
 
SPONSORED CONTENT 
 
RV There Yet? | April 10-13, 2024 RV enthusiasts Patrice and her husband Kevin McCabe are 
returning to the Outer Banks to complete filming for the episode which will air in Season 3 of the 
show on Discovery beginning in April to a potential audience of 88 million. Once the 13-week run 
of Season 3 is done on Discovery, then it moves to MotorTrend with 76 million viewers plus a 
host of popular streaming channels. 
 
EARNED MEDIA 

 
Select Traveler | Feb 2024 “Southern Inflection Points” Aaron interviewed with contributor 
Cynthia Barnes about the history of Roanoke Island for the trade travel magazine for the banking 
industry. The article is a roundup of several six well-known places, of which the Outer Banks led 
off the article. https://bit.ly/3wDMo6R 
 
EARNED MEDIA – IN DEVELOPMENT 
 
USA Today | Jun 2024 The PR team assisted writer Meg St-Esprit on an upcoming article about 
taking your personal watercraft on vacation.  
 

 
  


















	COVER
	May 16 2024 BOARD AGENDA
	Board April 18,2024 Minutes
	3 year strategic goals 2024 May 8
	Budget & Finance Report
	meals occupancy charts
	firstbudget
	middlebudget
	Budget3

	FY 24-25 Budget for May DCTB
	Marketing Dashboard
	Community Engagement
	Tourism Sales Report
	Public Relations



